RECONCILIATION & DEVELOPMENT working paper series | paper 4

The gap between rich and poor: South African society's biggest divide depends on where you think you fit in





RECONCILIATION & DEVELOPMENT WORKING PAPER SERIES | Number 4

The gap between rich and poor: South African society's biggest divide depends on where you think you fit in

By Tiaan Meiring, Catherine Kannemeyer and Elnari Potgieter

About the Reconciliation and Development series

The Reconciliation and Development series is a multidisciplinary publication focused on the themes of peacebuilding and development. Peacebuilding research includes the study of causes of armed violence and war, processes of conflict, the preconditions for peaceful resolution and peacebuilding, and the processes and nature of social cohesion and reconciliation. Development research, in turn, is concerned with poverty, structural inequalities, reasons for underdevelopment, issues of socioeconomic justice and the nature of inclusive development. This publication serves to build up a knowledge base of research topics in the fields of peacebuilding and development, and the nexus between them, studying the relationship between conflict and poverty, and exclusion and inequality, as well as between peace and development in positive terms.

Research in the publication follows a problem-driven methodology, in which the scientific research problem decides the methodological approach. Geographically, the publication has a particular focus on post-conflict societies on the African continent.

About this working paper

This working paper was developed as part of a study that explored the relationship between social cohesion and economic inequality in South Africa, and the institutional changes needed to promote social cohesion and reduce inequality. It was a collaborative, two-year research project between the French Development Agency, the Institute for Justice and Reconciliation and the University of Cape Town's Poverty and Inequality Initiative. The authors of this paper formed part of this project.

About the South African Reconciliation Barometer

The South African Reconciliation Barometer (SARB) is a public opinion survey conducted by the IJR. Since its launch in 2003, the SARB has provided a nationally representative measure of citizens' attitudes to national reconciliation, social cohesion, transformation and democratic governance. The SARB is the only survey dedicated to critical measurement of reconciliation and the broader processes of social cohesion, and is the largest longitudinal data source of its kind globally.

Published by the Institute for Justice and Reconciliation 105 Hatfield Street, Gardens, Cape Town, 8001, South Africa www.ijr.org.za

Text $\ensuremath{\textcircled{O}}$ 2018 Institute for Justice and Reconciliation All rights reserved.

Designed and produced by COMPRESS.dsl | www.compressdsl.com

Orders to be placed with the IJR: Tel: +27 (21) 202 4071 Email: info@ijr.org.za

The contributors to this publication write in their personal capacity. Their views do not necessarily reflect those of their employers or of the Institute for Justice and Reconciliation.





Table of contents

Abstract		iv
1.	Introduction	1
2.	The extent of societal division defines the lack of 'social cohesion'	1
3.	Primary sources of social division in South Africa	3
4.	Understanding the role that inequality plays in dividing a society	5
5.	Relative standing and inequality as the primary source of social division	10
6.	Methods and descriptive statistics	11
7.	Data: South African Reconciliation Barometer (SARB)	12
8.	Descriptive statistics	13
9.	The model	15
10. Conclusions		19
En	dnotes	20
Re	ferences	20

List of tables and figures

Table 1:	Proportion of sample identifying 'Gap between rich & poor'	
	as biggest division	14
Table 2:	Summary data: Means and standard errors of independent variables	16
Table 3:	Logistic model of the odds of perceiving the gap between rich and	
	poor as the primary social division in South Africa	17
Figure 1:	Biggest division in relation to financial status	13
Figure 2:	Financial status in relation to ethnicity	14
Figure 3:	Biggest division in relation to ethnicity	14

Abstract

In this paper we consider social cohesion primarily in terms of its absence – 'the nature and extent of social and economic divisions within society' (Easterly et al. 2006:105). We use data from the Institute for Justice and Reconciliation's South African Reconciliation Barometer (SARB) to advance an understanding of what underpins individual perceptions of inequality as the biggest division in South Africa. In particular, our interest is in the relationship between perceived relative standing and registering the gap between rich and poor as the greatest divide in South Africa.

1. Introduction

Conceptualisation of the conditions required for cohesive societies considers the following aspects: 1) combatting social exclusion, inequality and marginalisation on the one hand; 2) and fostering shared norms, belonging, shared identities and relations on the other. Social cohesion is also often defined in negative terms – by its absence – as 'the nature and extent of social and economic divisions within society' (Easterly et al. 2006:105).

When considering progress in terms of social cohesion in the South African context, it has been attested that certain structural, socioeconomic legacies inherited from decades of colonial and apartheid rule – such as the marginalisation of the majority of its population in terms of access to financial resources, economic opportunity, quality education and political participation – remain as key challenges. In addition, after years of racial segregation under apartheid, challenges in terms of addressing racism experienced by citizens and the general distrust of other race groups persist in post-apartheid South Africa (Hofmeyr & Govender 2015).

Such divisions – based on inequality and race – are evident in the SARB's public perception data, as they are identified as the primary sources of social division by the majority of respondents. Since the SARB's inception in 2003, 'inequality' ranked as the perceived biggest source of division in South Africa almost every year, with 'race' frequently ranking second or third among a list of possible divisions.

The aim here is to further investigate the relationship between the identification of the gap between rich and poor being the biggest divide in society as a function of one's perceptions of where one fits in. Specifically, we look at individuals' perceived relative standing based on their relative financial situation, and how it relates to their perceptions of what the greatest source of social division is. A further aim is to identify the characteristics that make individuals more likely to indicate economic inequality as the greatest source of social division. This would allow us insight into relevant factors that have implications for the prospect of social cohesion.

2. The extent of societal division defines the lack of 'social cohesion'

Collectively, the literature on social cohesion refers to the aspects of social cohesion as 'strength of social relations, shared values and communities of

The aim here is to further investigate the relationship between the identification of the gap between rich and poor being the biggest divide in society as a function of one's perceptions of where one fits in. interpretation, feelings of a common identity and a sense of belonging to the same community, trust among societal members as well as the extent of inequality and disparities' (Berger-Schmitt 2000:3). Social cohesion is a nebulous concept, with its conceptualisation largely dependent on the context within which it is being investigated, the disciplinary lens from which it is being investigated, the political purpose or cause for investigation, and the data and methods available to investigate it. The different and divergent conceptualisations and definitions employed in the study of social cohesion often carry no more than what Wittgenstein (2009) calls a *family resemblance*.

An overview of the array of definitions of social cohesion available in the literature provides an important insight in social cohesion as a concept: that there exists 'no single accepted definition of the term internationally' (OECD 2012:53). Bernard (2000) suggests that the usefulness of social cohesion as a concept lies exactly in its broadness, as it becomes 'a concept of convenience... flexible enough to allow the meandering and necessities of political action from day to day'. This conceptual flexibility is evident in the broad and diverse range of topics for which it has been used, ranging from indicators and warning systems for social conflict, crime, anti-social behaviour, anti-racism, nation-building, to economic inequality.

A commonality shared amongst all definitions of social cohesion is that they either explicitly refer to, or at least implicitly imply, a kind of connectedness amongst a group of people; the 'phenomenon of togetherness which may work to keep the society united and harmonised' (Pervaiz et al. 2013:5). In line with dictionary definitions and everyday usage of the term *cohesion*, at the heart of social cohesion is that which makes a society *cohere* or *stick together* (Chan et al. 2006:288–289). It conveys a sense of solidarity, shared loyalty and the realisation of interdependence between different people and groupings (Fenger 2012:40). Essentially, social cohesion is the proverbial glue, cement or fabric that holds a society/group together (Beauvais & Jenson 2002; Chan et al. 2006; Harell & Stolle 2011; Kearns & Forrest 2000; Putnam 2000; Schmeets 2011), be that group defined at a familial, communal, cultural, regional, nation state or any other level.

However, Chan et al. (2006) highlight how many contemporary definitions of social cohesion go beyond capturing or identifying the 'essence' of what social cohesion is, and instead list conditions that are presumed to be necessary for a society to be cohesive. These conceptualisations characterise cohesive societies, dealing with both that which holds societies together, and that which causes divisions within it. The conditions presumed necessary for cohesive societies can be categorised into two distinct elements: one dealing with shared norms, relations and ties (closely related to social capital theory), and the other concerned with how inequality, exclusions and relative deprivation cause division within a society. This distinction is clearly evident in the definitions of prominent international bodies below.

The UNDP Bureau for Crisis Prevention and Recovery¹ (2009:14) differentiates between two principal conditions necessary for a cohesive society:

A commonality shared amongst all definitions of social cohesion is that they either explicitly refer to, or at least implicitly imply, a kind of connectedness amongst a group of people; the 'phenomenon of togetherness which may work to keep the society united and harmonised'.

- (i) the reduction of inequalities, disparities and social exclusion; and
- (ii) the strengthening of social relations and ties.

Similarly, in a background paper prepared for the World Bank's *World Development Report 2013*, Norton and De Haan (2013:9) distinguish between three conditions for social cohesion:

- (i) shared values, identities and norms;
- (ii) fairness and equity; and
- (iii) security of access to livelihoods and basic services.

Finally, the OECD (2012:52-53) defines a cohesive society as:

'(working) towards the well-being of all of its members, minimising disparities and avoiding marginalisation. It entails three major dimensions: fostering cohesion by building networks of relationships, trust and identity between different groups; fighting discrimination, exclusion and excessive inequalities; and enabling upward social mobility.'

All these conceptualisations of cohesive societies share similar distinctions, between combatting social exclusion, inequality and marginalisation on the one hand, and fostering shared norms, belonging, shared identities and relations on the other. Research predominantly concerned with either of these two distinctions has been referred to as the two approaches to social cohesion (Hooghe 2011) – as the institution-driven ('European') and society-driven ('North American') approaches to social cohesion. The approach here aligns with the former, investigating the role that social exclusion, inequalities and marginalisation play in dividing a society and weakening social cohesion.

Invariably, social cohesion is something that is 'easier to recognise by its absence than by any definition' (UNDP 2009:14). Social cohesion can therefore also be defined in negative terms, by its absence, 'as the nature and extent of social and economic divisions within society' (Easterly et al. 2006:105). Divisions like economic inequalities represent the 'vectors around which politically salient societal cleavages can (although not inevitably or "naturally") develop' (Easterly et al. 2006:105). It therefore makes sense to analyse the impediments to the establishment of cohesive societies; to investigate the nature and extent of societal divisions.

3. Primary sources of social division in South Africa

Particular to the South African context are certain structural legacies and socioeconomic inequalities inherited from decades of colonial and apartheid rule, as a result of the purposeful marginalisation of the majority Black² population in

Invariably, social cohesion is something that is 'easier to recognise by its absence than by any definition'. Social cohesion can therefore also be defined in negative terms, by its absence, 'as the nature and extent of social and economic divisions within society'. terms of access to financial resources, economic opportunity, quality education, political participation, etc. In this respect, domestic discussions are predicated on experiences shared in other post-independence and post-conflict contexts in the Global South.³ Debates on language, place, and identity; cooperation between historically distinctive groups in their competition for resources, land and ownership; and the role of political governance and developmental agendas are amongst the shared structural legacies that these societies face (King et al. 2010).

As per the remark that social cohesion is best identified in its absence, South Africa remains plagued by the constant recurrence of xenophobic attacks (like those in the first four months of 2015 [Patel 2015]) and the associated lack of trust in foreigners revealed in public opinion data,⁴ the levels of racism experienced by citizens and the general lack of trust in other race groups (SARB 2015),⁵ the lack of social mobility experienced (Finn et al. 2016), and the very high levels of economic inequality – insecurity and exclusion from opportunities and resources that persist in a post-apartheid South Africa (see for example Hofmeyr & Govender 2016; Kerr 2015; Orthofer 2016; Potgieter 2016; Statistics South Africa 2017; and Schotte et al. 2017).⁶ Apart from being one of the most economically unequal societies in the world (World Bank 2016), horizontal inequalities⁷ between race groups are evident in the composition of South African society's economic strata and the distribution of resources. This is especially true with regard to lower economic classes, which are in the large majority still Black, poor and without access to resources and opportunities.

Since the inception of the SARB survey in 2003, respondents have consistently ranked 'Inequality' (between rich and poor) as the greatest source of social division in South Africa (with the only exception being in 2004 and 2010 when 'Political parties' was identified as the biggest source of division) (Potgieter 2017:16). Also, in the 2015 and 2017 iterations of the survey, race was the second-most identified source of social division. Perceptions of economic inequality and race as the major sources of division clearly resonate with the state of economic disparities in the country. Although it is not the focus of this paper, it seems likely that there is much overlap between race and economic inequality in respondents' sentiments regarding the biggest source of divisions, given the persistence of extreme levels of inter-racial inequality and the country's apartheid legacy. Research on income inequality shows that aggregate national inequality has remained at a stubbornly high level, staying relatively stable at its pre-1994 levels during the democratic era. Aggregate income inequality actually slightly increased over the period from 1993 to 2008 (Leibbrandt et al. 2010; and Van den Berg 2011), followed by a decrease between 2008 and 2014 (Hundenborn et al. 2016). Income inequality between race groups has remained at extremely high, world-beating levels (especially if divided into White and 'non-White' groups - see Elbers et al. 2008). However, the between-race component of inequality has become a less important determinant of national-level income inequality (Leibbrandt et al. 2012). Increasing income inequality within race groups, and especially within the Black African group, has become the dominant driver of aggregate inequality (Leibbrandt et al. 2012). Importantly for considerations on sources of division, wealth is significantly more unequally distributed than incomes. The top 10% of the population receive 55 to 60% of all labour incomes (Orthofer 2016). Comparatively, best estimates

Since the inception of the SARB survey in 2003, respondents have consistently ranked 'Inequality' (between rich and poor) as the greatest source of social division in South Africa. from a combination of survey and personal income tax data show that 1% of the South African population owns at least half of the wealth,⁸ with the top decile owning 90 to 95% of the wealth (Orthofer 2016).

That economic inequality is identified as the primary source of social division by the majority of respondents to the SARB survey closely relates to a critique of social cohesion discourses in official South African governmental policy and related forums (such as by Abrahams 2016). Some, like Abrahams (2016) and Barolsky (2013), argue that social cohesion in the South African context has become inextricably linked to governmental normative projects and often superficial discourses of unity, reconciliation (as forgiveness, peace and cooperation - not necessarily as restitution), and nation-building. Issues regarding the intersectional effects of economic inequality and exclusion on those who make up 'the nation' have remained peripheral and only received occasional acknowledgement. Barolsky (2013), through an interrogation of the evolution of the concept of social cohesion in the South African setting, argues that an overemphasis on the issue of social cohesion as nation-building and creating certain unifying values can lead to a misrecognition that the problem of social cohesion lies solely in the realm of the immaterial (i.e. norms, values and building social relations).

Social inequalities and the impacts thereof on the lived-realities of citizens, the actual impact of inequality, exclusion and deprivation in terms of citizens' capabilities for 'self-making' and 'self-empowerment' are not recognised within this construct (Ross 2009). It becomes the case, as Jenson (1998) argues, that instead of forming a constituent part in the process of bringing about a more just, inclusive and equal society, social cohesion can become a notion employed to mask persistent deprivations and growing social inequalities as to subdue, or silence, the frustrations that arise from it.

4. Understanding the role that inequality plays in dividing a society

We understand the gap between rich and poor to signify inequality, and our aim is to assess whether inequality being perceived as the biggest divide in society is contingent on perceptions of relative standing. Specifically, we look at individuals' perceived relative standing based on their relative financial situation, and how it relates to their perceptions of inequality being identified as the greatest source of social division. A further aim is to identify the characteristics that make individuals more likely to indicate economic inequality as the greatest source of social division. This would allow us insight into relevant factors that have implications for the prospect of social cohesion.

However, before testing the relationship between relative standing and perceptions of what the greatest source of societal division is, it is necessary to conceptualise the individual- and group-level mechanisms by which economic inequality might cause division and undermine social cohesion. The explanations found in the That economic inequality is identified as the primary source of social division by the majority of respondents to the SARB survey closely relates to a critique of social cohesion discourses in official South African governmental policy and related forums.

We understand the gap between rich and poor to signify inequality, and our aim is to assess whether inequality being perceived as the biggest divide in society is contingent on perceptions of relative standing. Specifically, we look at individuals' perceived relative standing based on their relative financial situation, and how it relates to their perceptions of inequality being identified as the greatest source of social division.

literature delineate two major mechanisms by which inequality causes social division and undermines social cohesion. First, in the extent to which it creates social distances between individuals and groups within a society, undermining the sense of interdependence and community required for cohesion (Fenger 2012:40). Second, the extent to which inequalities play a fundamental role in fostering a sense of injustice and unfairness in the distribution of power and material resources, especially amongst those who are relatively deprived and/or perceive themselves to be so (Langer & Smedts 2013; Stewart 2008).

There remains a lack of clarity on the nature of the causal relation, or sequencing, between inequality and social cohesion. On the one hand, social cohesion is often conceptualised as the means or process by which the various forms of inequalities, exclusion, and disparities (and the potential political and social instability that may result from them) can be addressed. On the other, it is also circumscribed as the ends or outcome of these selfsame challenges being addressed.

There remains a lack of clarity on the nature of the causal relation, or sequencing, between inequality and social cohesion. On the one hand, social cohesion is often conceptualised as the means or process by which the various forms of inequalities, exclusion, and disparities (and the potential political and social instability that may result from them) can be addressed. On the other, it is also circumscribed as the ends or outcome of these selfsame challenges being addressed. As Putnam (2000:359) puts it: 'community and equality are mutually reinforcing'. The causality and relationship between a lack of social cohesion and exclusions, inequalities, and social fissures are presented in an ambiguous manner, and as having a circular, mutually reinforcing relationship where both are to some degree both the cause and consequence of the other. Subsequently, the question is one of the nature and extent of causal directions; of whether more cohesive societies do more to reduce inequalities and exclusion (through a recognition of interdependence and a sense of solidarity), or if more economically equal societies are first required to create the conditions necessary for social cohesion to take root, or a combination of both. To quote Putnam (2001:13) further:

'the causal arrows are likely to run in both directions, with citizens in high social capital states likely to do more to reduce inequalities, and inequalities themselves to be socially divisive.'

However, until as recently as 2005, the potential impact of economic inequality on social cohesion had been an important omission in the literature on social cohesion and the closely related notions of social capital and societal trust (Rohstein & Uslaner 2005:52). Whilst Putnam (2000) briefly referred to the importance of economic inequality in his research on the decline of social capital in the United States, he does not mention it in his conclusion about 'what killed civic engagement', and it is not referred to in any of his seven policy prescriptions for increasing social capital in the USA. This is also in lieu of economic inequality in the USA expanding substantially in the period under review (from the 1970s onwards) (Neckerman 2005; Stocpol 2003), and as the USA's welfare state contracted (Hacker 2004).

Rohstein and Uslaner (2005:52–53) highlight how none of the major studies on trust by political scientists and sociologists had considered economic equality as an important variable. Furthermore, the few economists that had studied the relationship (like the Word Bank's Knack and Zak [2002]) found that redistribution (i.e. lessening inequality) is an important policy option by which governments can try to increase societal trust, where trust is an indicator of social cohesion. The

material aspects potentially underlying social cohesion were largely ignored, as were questions of 'whether the low levels of trust and social capital are caused by too little government action to reduce inequality' (Rohstein & Uslaner 2005:53).

However, strong empirical cases have since been made for greater equality being a precondition for higher levels of trust within societies (see Uslaner 2002; Rohstein & Uslaner 2005; Wilkinson & Pickett 2010; You 2005), and echoed by economists specialising in inequality and redistribution, like Atkinson (2015, Chapter One). As Rohstein and Uslaner (2005:42) indicate, generalised trust reflects a society's sense of solidarity; a society's belief that their fate is interdependent. It is therefore closely interrelated with the notion of social cohesion. If generalised trust is taken as proxy for the glue that holds a society together, then this indicates that the primary causal direction runs from equality to social cohesion. They argue that the extent of a society's material equality/inequality (as independent variable) serves as the key determinant of its levels of cohesion (as dependent variable), whilst admitting that there is a feedback loop between the variables. Rohstein and Uslaner (2005:45), by means of a cross-national statistical analysis and test for causality, indicate that there is 'no direct effect of trust on inequality; rather, the causal direction starts with inequality.'

From the wealth of empirical evidence surveyed, Wilkinson and Pickett (2010) argue that there is a material base which provides the 'skeleton' or 'framework' around which social hierarchies (and subsequently also many class and perceived cultural differences) generate. Material inequality is identified as the central driver of differences in social class or status, as reflected in the gradients in health and societal issues. Differences in living standards serve as markers for status differences, as people generally befriend others in more or less the same income bracket and neighbourhood, whilst having much less to do with people much richer or poorer than them. As there is less interaction amongst the various groupings, trust amongst them tends to be lower, and greater inequalities create greater social distances within which distrust and prejudice are more likely to take root. This is echoed in Bourdieu's (1984) investigation into distinctions and prejudices that exist within societies, and their negative consequences for social mobility. He describes how material differences become overlaid with cultural markers of social difference, which in turn often translates into various forms of prejudice.

However, prejudices can be overcome through contact – as posited by Gordon Allport (1954) – that is, through interpersonal contact under the correct conditions, namely: 1) equal status, 2) intergroup cooperation, 3) common goals, and 4) support provided by social and institutional authorities. In the South African context, contact between race groups was limited to an absolute minimum due to the social distances created under apartheid. Coupled with inequalities, opportunities for contact took place amid the reality of inequality. Today, these dynamics continue to play out as class segregation with racial inflections (Wale 2013). One of the major insights of the SARB has been the extent to which class inequality has become a key mediating factor as far as racial integration is concerned (Wale 2014). The majority of poor South Africans continue to be Black and segregated from multiracial, urban and/or middle-class (in particular

One of the major insights of the SARB has been the extent to which class inequality has become a key mediating factor as far as racial integration is concerned. geographical) spaces – as was intended by apartheid planners. This finding is important for racial contact (and thus reconciliation processes) in South Africa, as it points to the need to address the relationship between material and social exclusion (Wale 2013).

Wilkinson and Pickett conceptualise the process by which material inequalities form the basis for social hierarchies and class outcomes as follows:

'(o)ver time, crude differences in wealth gradually become overlaid by differences in clothing, aesthetic taste, education, sense of self and all the other markers of class identity' (Wilkinson & Pickett 2010:28), and

'(o)ur position in the social hierarchy affects who we see as part of the in-group and who as out-group – us and them – so affecting our ability to identify with and empathize with other people' (Wilkinson & Pickett 2010:51).

Within their conceptualisation, it is exactly because of this material basis for social hierarchies, the fact that these inequalities in income, wealth, and social mobility provide the skeleton around which other societal/class distinctions and their accompanying prejudices formulate, that people regard material inequality as socially divisive. Greater economic inequalities indicate greater social distances amongst member of a society, distances within which distrust and prejudice can fester (Bourdieu 1984; Rohstein & Uslaner 2005; Wilkinson & Pickett 2010; Uslaner 2002).

As Maxwell (1996:13) argues, a cohesive society entails its members having a sense of being engaged in a common enterprise, of facing the same challenges, and of being part of the same community. This sense of shared enterprise and common challenges is unlikely to be present in extremely unequal societies where citizens live in completely divergent realities in terms of access to basic resources and opportunities for upward mobility. Citizens consent to the redistribution of resources based on need (by means of progressive taxation, labour market policies and social welfare policies) 'if they regard themselves as bound to the beneficiaries by strong ties of community' (Miller 1989:59). A sense of social solidarity implies that people believe that the various groups in society have a shared fate, and that there is a responsibility to enable and create possibilities for those with a lack of resources.

Relatedly, the emphasis on social exclusion, marginalisation and inequality as a key driver of a society's lack of cohesion also highlights that perceptions of fairness and equity might play a fundamental role in a society's level of cohesiveness (Langer et al. 2015:6). Indeed, Starmans et al. (2017) argue that it is precisely a sense of unfairness that underlies much of the public and scholarly discussion on inequality. They note that there is much anecdotal evidence and academic literature pointing towards equality as an important societal goal, yet when people are asked about the ideal distribution of wealth in their country, they prefer (somewhat) unequal societies (see Norton & Ariely 2011). They reconcile these two phenomena by

A sense of social solidarity implies that people believe that the various groups in society have a shared fate, and that there is a responsibility to enable and create possibilities for those with a lack of resources.

Relatedly, the emphasis on social exclusion, marginalisation and inequality as a key driver of a society's lack of cohesion also highlights that perceptions of fairness and equity might play a fundamental role in a society's level of cohesiveness drawing upon laboratory studies, cross-cultural research, and experiments with babies and young children, and argue that people 'naturally favour fair distributions, not equal ones, and that when fairness and equality clash, people prefer fair inequality over unfair equality' (Starmans et al. 2017:1).

Subsequently, inequality as unfairness becomes a problem when poor and excluded groups do not believe in the fairness of the political, social and/or economic systems governing them. This sense of injustice can be fuelled further by the extent to which inequalities overlap with other identities like race or ethnicity (i.e. horizontal inequalities between groups), and how permanent these socio-economic statuses are over time (relating to intergenerational mobility and relative access to resources and opportunity). Large and persistent inequalities (perceived as injustices) can thus be detrimental to societal cohesion by means of a grievance-based mechanism: the extent to which inequalities provoke severe frustration and grievances among relatively disadvantaged groups (Gurr 1970). In turn, this may induce group mobilisation, leading to increased tensions and schisms between social groupings (Cederman et al. 2011; Stewart 2008).

In Christine Han, Jan Germen Janmaat, Bryony Hoskins, and Andy Green's paper titled *Perceptions of Inequalities: Implications for Social Cohesion* (2012), inequality relates to the differences in outcomes for individuals in education and in society. Inequality of outcomes might be considered congruent with the gap between rich and poor, or capture a broader understanding of inequality in what this gap leads to in relation to justice and fairness. Inequalities of outcome – which may occur as a result of differences in individual endowments, or in the way people are treated by institutions and other individuals – are usually measured in terms of inequality in wages, household income, and wealth. Different forms of inequalities often mutually reinforce each other. For example, income differences are usually linked to a number of factors, including social class, ethnicity, gender, wealth, and the rural-urban divide (Han et al. 2012:12).

When one considers economic inequality – linked to inequity and unfairness – it would be remiss to discount its links to health, and mental health in particular. Inequity has been implicated as a source of several psychiatric diseases, including depression. An association between widening inequity and depression is apparent, and evidence of neural mechanisms being affected by inequity and depression is emerging. In particular, Tanaka, Yamamoto and Haruno (2017) utilise the ultimatum/ dictator game from behavioural economics and show that sensitivity to economic inequity has a critical effect on human mood states, and the amygdala and hippocampus play a key role in individual differences in the effect.

Economic gaps have also been linked to major depression in large-scale cohortbased studies. Tanaka, Yamamoto and Haruno (2017) report that findings elsewhere have demonstrated that economic and material disadvantage are crucial in explaining depressive symptoms. They examine social value orientation in a non-clinical population to identify how the prosocial and individualists become prone to depression. Prosocial persons are ones who allocate resources in a manner that limits inequality, relative to individualists who maximise their own reward without considering the social implications. What is found is that prosocial Inequality as unfairness becomes a problem when poor and excluded groups do not believe in the fairness of the political, social and/ or economic systems governing them persons have significant brain activity relating to depressive indices, and that these scores remain significant a year later.

While it would be a leap to link depression to social cohesion, it is clear that there are neurological associations and mental health implications for prosocial individuals who would prefer more equitable social relations. Depression is costly, to individuals and society both in terms of quality of life as well as economic productivity – and it is unfortunate that manifest inequality and unfairness worsens its incidence. It is impossible to know what the net effect of prosocial behaviour and depressive symptoms would be on inequality in the aggregate but it is certainly plausible that it might relate to lower levels of social cohesion.

5. Relative standing and inequality as the primary source of social division

Relative standing refers to where one fits into the distribution of economic welfare, be it measured by income, wealth, or as is the measure used here, perceptions of relative financial welfare. Measures of relative standing, and relative income more specifically, are often studied in relation to self-reported happiness or subjective well-being (see, for example, Easterlin 1974, 1995; and Kingdon & Knight 2007). The general finding from such studies is that although absolute income levels have a role to play, how people rank their own welfare in relation to others has a strong relation to their level of subjective well-being. This is generally understood as individual subjective well-being diminishing due to the higher income of reference groups and the accompanying sense of relative deprivation or reduced status.

Similarly, perceived relative deprivation is investigated here in relation to how likely individuals are to perceive economic inequality as the greatest source of social division in South African society. The question here is whether perceptions of the extent to which economic inequality is the greatest source of social division might be determined by how one perceives one's economic situation in relation to that of others. In turn, these perceptions of social division provide insight into whether individuals might harbour a sense of injustice against the distribution of resources, and/or lack a sense of interdependence with other societal members and groupings. If relative standing is a major determinant of subjective well-being at the individual level, it seems likely that it could also have an impact upon a society's level of cohesiveness. As one indicator of subjective well-being, we use SARB's questions pertaining to financial circumstances relative to respondents' communities and the rest of South Africa. This, of course, forms a part of well-being in an economic sense. Relative financial well-being, however, is of particular importance, as the SARB responses indicate that individuals' financial situations in comparison with those of others are of even more concern to them than household conditions and quality of life (Potgieter 2017).

Empirically, the expectation that relative standing (and by extension inequality) is a major determinant of societal cohesion finds a basis in Cederman et al.'s (2011) global study of ethnonationalist civil war – albeit at the more acute end of studies on

Relative standing refers to where one fits into the distribution of economic welfare, be it measured by income, wealth, or as is the measure used here, perceptions of relative financial welfare.

Relative financial well-being, however, is of particular importance, as the SARB responses indicate that individuals' financial situations in comparison with those of others are of even more concern to them than household conditions and quality of life. social cohesion and peace. The authors find that economic and political inequalities between ethnic groups increase the risk of conflict between them. More importantly for the purposes here, they also find that groups that are further below and above the national average in the estimated actual wealth distribution are more likely to be involved in conflict than groups whose wealth lies closer to the national average.

An important contribution here is to use *perceptions* of relative standing. Although one might expect considerable correlation between perceptions of where individuals perceive themselves to fit within the income distribution, and where they actually fit according to more objective measures, there are reasons to prefer the subjective measure. First, empirical studies have generally noted (often significant) mismatches between objective measures and individual's subjective assessments of levels of wealth and income inequality in their country, how the extent of these inequalities change over time, and where individuals fit into these distributions (Chambers et al. 2013; Cruces et al. 2013; Gimpelson & Treisman 2017; Kuhn 2011, 2016; Niehues 2014; Norton & Ariely 2011; Posel & Casale 2010). Gimpelson and Treisman (2017:1) show that within most societies '(w)idespread ignorance and misperceptions (of inequality) emerge robustly, regardless of data source, operationalisation, and measurement method'. Despite it being an inherent assumption of many theories attempting to explain the impacts of economic inequalities upon societies, it is implausible that citizens, on average, can accurately gauge the extent of economic inequalities.

Second, and relatedly, social and political phenomena often associated with high levels of inequality (like inter-class conflict and demand for redistribution) have been found to have a strong relation to perceived inequality (Engelhardt & Wagener 2014; Gimpelson & Treisman 2013; Niehues 2014). In contrast, empirical investigations into these phenomena have proved to have a tenuous relation with economic inequalities when objective measures for levels of inequality were used (Lupu & Pontusson 2011:316; Ostby 2013:206). Subsequently, Gimpelson and Treisman (2013) argue that this has important consequences for theories on the impacts of economic inequality on politics and public policy; that many 'must be reformulated as theories about not actual inequality but perceptions of it, with no presumption the two coincide' (2017:2). It therefore seems to be the case, as Langer et al. (2015) argue, that 'social cohesion is essentially a matter of how individuals perceive others and the state and not of more "objective" measures of interactions'. Therefore, perception measures provide an alternative to objective measures on economic inequalities by which to investigate the impacts of inequalities on people's behaviour and beliefs.

Methods and descriptive statistics

6.

Regarding objective and subjective measures of individuals' relative ranking of themselves in the national income distribution in the South African context, Posel and Casale (2010) have found considerable differences between objective and subjective measures of individuals' relative rankings of themselves in the national income distribution, with perceived relative standing having a significantly larger effect on subjective well-being than objective income measures of relative standing.

Therefore seems to be the case, as Langer et al. (2015) argue, that 'social cohesion is essentially a matter of how individuals perceive others and the state and not of more "objective" measures of interactions'. Therefore, perception measures provide an alternative to objective measures on economic inequalities by which to investigate the impacts of inequalities on people's behaviour and beliefs. Using data from the 2008 wave of the National Income Dynamics Survey (NIDS), Posel and Casale (2010) found perceived economic rank to be a far better predictor of subjective well-being than actual rank measured by income data. They also find that perceptions of relative economic position in relation to one's village or suburb have a greater impact on subjective well-being than one's perceived position within the national distribution. Similar mismatches between objective measures and subjective assessments of relative standing are noted by Cruces et al. (2013) in a survey experiment in Argentina. On respondents' assessments of their own relative position, Cruces et al. (2013) find that where respondents thought they fitted into the national distribution correlated strongly with their place in the local income distribution, or in some other reference group. Using data from the 2010 Life in Transition Survey (LITS 2010) survey,⁹ Gimpelson and Tresiman (2017:15) find that those who are better off generally perceive that they are poorer – and the poor generally think they are richer – than they actually are. Therefore, both groups tend to think that they are closer to the median than is, in fact, the case.

These findings have two important implications for the study of relative standing in relation to social attitudes: (i) that subjective understanding of where one fits into the economic distribution could provide a better indicator for social attitudes than more objective measures; and (ii) that the degree to which people identify with a reference group matters for the extent to which feelings of relative deprivation impact upon social attitudes.

Further work by Posel and Rogan (2016) examines the finding that there exists considerable overlap between money-metric and subjective measures of poverty in South Africa. Using data from the Living Conditions Survey (2008/9) they find that three-fifths of all households that are identified as poor in terms of per-capita household expenditure are also self-assessed as poor. A number of characteristics emerge as relevant for the divergence between money-metric and subjective poverty. Of importance to this paper, subjective assessments of poverty are shown to relate to factors beyond the household's current economic resources, including the ability of the household to generate resources in the past and in the future, the household's access to basic services and the average health status of household members. Using a subjective measure of relative perceived financial situation might be more indicative perhaps of how the household views its ongoing welfare than an objective measure of current income or expenditure.

relative perceived financial situation might be more indicative perhaps of how the household views its ongoing welfare than an objective measure of current income or expenditure.

Using a subjective measure of

7. Data: South African Reconciliation Barometer (SARB)

The South African Reconciliation Barometer (SARB) project conducts applied social research on reconciliation in South Africa. One of only a handful of projects of this kind in the world, the primary data, research findings and publications produced by the SARB have become an established resource for governments, civil society organisations and researchers alike in the processes of policy development, encouraging national debate and broadening theory and the study of reconciliation. As an integral part of the SARB project, the SARB survey is a national public opinion poll that tracks progress in reconciliation across a range of multidimensional indicators, including political culture and relations, aspects of

social integration and social cohesion, human security, dialogue, historical confrontation, socio-economic justice and social relations. In South Africa it is currently the only dedicated social survey on reconciliation.

The 2015 SARB survey was fielded during August and September 2015 by international market research company TNS. The survey employed a multi-stage cluster design, whereby enumerator areas (EAs) were randomly selected and, within each of these, households were randomly selected for visitation. At each household a systematic grid system was employed to select the specific respondent for an interview. The final obtained sample of 2 219 respondents was then weighted to represent the adult population of South Africa adequately.

Data from the 2015 SARB round is used to investigate whether there is a relationship between relative economic well-being among South Africans and the belief that inequality is the biggest source of division in the South African context. In addition the characteristics that make individuals more likely to indicate economic inequality as the greatest source of social division are considered here, and by so doing shed light on the conditions in which economic inequality is perceived to cause division – thus undermining social cohesion.

8. Descriptive statistics

Respondents are prompted to report what their financial situation is relative to the rest of South Africa.

Given the high levels of inequality in South Africa, one might have expected more individuals overall to consider themselves worse off, but this might be dampened by the pervasive reality of poverty affecting the bulk of South Africans.

Looking at Figure 1, those who consider themselves worst off are more likely to identify the gap between rich and poor as the most relevant social division, ahead of those who consider themselves to experience the same financial situation as other South Africans, and those who consider themselves better off on average.



whether there is a relationship between relative economic well-being among South Africans and the belief that inequality is the biggest source of division in the South African context.

Data from the 2015 SARB

round is used to investigate

Those who consider themselves worst off are more likely to identify the gap between rich and poor as the most relevant social division, ahead of those who consider themselves to experience the same financial situation as other South Africans, and those who consider themselves better off on average.

Figure 1: Biggest division in relation to financial status

It is interesting to note that Coloured people are most likely to consider themselves worse off than other South Africans. Considering perceptions of one's financial situation by ethnicity in Figure 2, it is interesting to note that Coloured people are most likely to consider themselves worse off than other South Africans, and that this exceeds the likelihood that Black South Africans consider themselves worst off, who are demonstrated to be objectively worse off elsewhere.



Figure 2: Financial status in relation to ethnicity

One might have expected a larger proportion of White South Africans to consider themselves better off than other South Africans, especially as a larger proportion consider themselves relatively worse off than their Indian counterparts. Given that intra-race inequality is high amidst both Black individuals and Coloured individuals, we might have expected more Black people to report being worse off, but overall financial situation perceptions are in line with what one might expect between groups.

Table 1: Proportion of sample identifying 'Gap between rich & poor' as biggest division			
	mean	se(mean)	
Gap between rich & poor	.5094101	.0000842	

A small majority of respondents report that the gap between rich and poor is the primary social division. In Figure 3 we consider how this is related to ethnicity in South Africa.



Figure 3: Biggest division in relation to ethnicity

Figure 3 gives us an indication of the extent to which different population groups view the gap between rich and poor as the primary social division. Coloured people are most likely to consider inequality the primary social division (58%) and this is congruent with objective intra-race inequality, which is persistently high. White individuals are the least likely of the population groups to have reported the gap between rich and poor as the primary social division, although 47% of White individuals do consider it such. Indian/Asian individuals are slightly more likely than Black individuals to consider the gap between rich and poor the primary social division, although a small (or slightly more than the) majority of both groups certainly perceive it that way.

9. The model

Our model looks at the association between factors deemed relevant to perceptions of inequality as a primary social division. We posit that one's own perceived financial situation might be associated with the recognition of the effect of inequality. Some findings suggest that while the poor and the rich are both affected by inequality (Wilkinson & Pickett 2010), the rich might be less willing to acknowledge or be less capable of appreciating the extent to which inequality matters. In this paper, we are interested in both those who perceive themselves as 'better off' and 'the same', because both groups have an important role to play in ameliorating inequality.

In addition to our primary interest in how one's perceived relative financial situation is linked to identifying inequality as a critical social division, it is also important to examine the relationship between ethnicity, gender, education, employment status and housing situation, as these are all relevant social cleavages related to significant differences in well-being and social attitudes.

Thirty-nine per cent of individuals consider their financial situation to be the same as other South Africans, while 28% consider themselves worse off, and 28% consider themselves better off. Black individuals represent 77% of the weighted sample, Whites 10%, Indian/Asians 3% and Coloured people 9%. The sample is slightly skewed towards female respondents.

Most respondents either have incomplete high school education or have only completed Matric. Forty-eight per cent of individuals are employed in a full-time or part-time capacity, which is higher than what one would expect in South Africa. One would also have expected lower levels of educational attainment amidst adult South Africans.

The type of housing is heavily skewed towards formal housing – in a country where formal housing is not widespread.

All of the above would indicate that the respondents are somewhat better off than those of labour market surveys and NIDS in particular typically observe.

White individuals are the least likely of the population groups to have reported the gap between rich and poor as the primary social division, although 47% of White individuals do consider it such.

Our model looks at the association between factors deemed relevant to perceptions of inequality as a primary social division. We posit that one's own perceived financial situation might be associated with the recognition of the effect of inequality.

Summary data				
	mean	se(mean)		
Relative Financial Status				
Worse	.2832044	.0000759		
Same	.3913494	.0000822		
Better	.278946	.0000755		
Ethnicity				
Black	.7770853	.0000701		
White/European	.1011354	.0000508		
Indian/Asian	.0287299	.0000281		
Coloured	.0930493	.0000489		
Gender				
Female	.5185834	.0000841		
Male	.4814166	.0000841		
Education				
Incomplete education	.4081555	.0000828		
Matric	.4561279	.0000839		
University degree	.0478791	.000036		
Other	.0878375	.0000477		
Employment Status				
Not economically active	.2150238	.0000692		
Employed	.4840549	.0000841		
Unemployed	.294799	.0000768		
Housing Type				
Informal	.0980592	.0000501		
Traditional	.0780253	.0000452		
Formal	.8239155	.0000641		
Age	38.64851	.0025645		

A logistical model is used to determine the relative odds of considering the gap between rich and poor the primary social division, conditioning on other variables in the model. The effect estimated is an association and should not be considered to be a causal relation between the factor and outcome of interest.

Our model looks at the association between one's own perceived financial situation and the identification of inequality as the primary social division, as well as the association between ethnicity, gender, education, employment status and housing situation and the perception of the gap between rich and poor as a primary social division.

Relative Financial Status	
Same	.87081836***
Better	.87232368***
Ethnicity	
White/European	.91915866***
Indian/Asian	1.3097148***
Coloured	1.3350266***
Gender	
Female	1.0285194***
Education	
Matric	.65405183***
University degree	.69378669***
Other	.7186571***
Employment Status	
Employed	.94653252***
Unemployed	.78056144***
Housing Type	
Traditional	1.0291221***
Formal	.93250748***
Age	.99381392***
Constant	2.1134095***
Weighted Observations	334 14 255

Exponentiated coefficients; standard errors in parentheses * p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001

Weighted Data Utilised

Base categories: Worse Off, Black, Male, Incomplete Education, Not Economically Active, Informal Housing

This model examines a variety of factors, some subjective in relation to the individual's perception of the greatest division in South Africa. Individuals were given two opportunities to choose from the same list of possible reasons that South Africa is so divided. If in any of these cases the individual concerned registered the gap between rich and poor as constituting the greatest divide in South Africa, the outcome variable for the logistic model presented is 1. If not, it is zero. Primarily we sought to investigate the relationship between one's own perceived relative financial status, and how this relates to appreciating divisions in contemporary South Africa. We conditioned on demographic variables including race, ethnicity and age. We controlled for education and employment status, as well as the type of housing occupied and area where the respondent lives. The regression results presented are for a logistic regression, and coefficients represent odds ratios. The perception of one's own financial status relative to South Africa at large is related as one might have expected. Relative to those who reported their relative financial status as worse off, those who consider

Relative to those who reported their relative financial status as worse off, those who consider themselves the same or better off are significantly less likely to consider inequality the primary social division in South Africa. themselves the same or better off are significantly less likely to consider inequality the primary social division in South Africa. This is an important finding when considering social cohesion on a national level, because if those who consider themselves better off do not recognise the pervasive inequality in South Africa, those with better means to facilitate change and enhance social cohesion might not recognise the necessity to involve themselves in efforts to bring about a more just society.

In terms of race groups, White respondents are slightly less likely to think that the gap between rich and poor is the greatest division in South Africa relative to Black respondents. Considered in the light that White respondents indicate that they are on average better off, yet do not recognise inequality as a primary social division to the same extent as other population groups, this reinforces our concern about the most privileged being most divorced from the plight of inequality in this society. Interestingly, Coloured and Indian/Asian minorities are more likely to consider income inequality to be the biggest division in South Africa. With Coloured people in particular, we saw previously that these respondents are more likely to report feeling worse off than other groups, which may be due to a number of reasons, one of which might be because of less powerful networks to access economic advantage.

Women are slightly more likely than men to consider the gap between rich and poor to be the greatest division in South Africa. This may be related to women earning lower wages across the board in South Africa (Finn 2015:10). Female-headed households are also common in South Africa, and these costs as well as relatively lower wages might contribute to women feeling the gap between rich and poor more acutely.

Regarding education, relative to those with incomplete education, all those with more education think it significantly less likely that the gap between rich and poor is the biggest division in South Africa. This is particularly interesting and merits further investigation. Low education is unquestionably related to economic exclusion in South Africa. However, it is deeply concerning that higher levels of education are associated with lower odds of perceiving inequality as a primary social division – as these individuals have significant power to change the experience of the worst off.

The association between unemployment and inequality as a primary social division is a bit strange. It suggests that NEA individuals (who are pensioners, homemakers and students) consider inequality a bigger issue. 2015 SARB questions on social mobility show that the unemployed (no longer looking for a job) feel marginalised on various fronts – education, social capital, financial means and transport/travel to reach own goals. Feelings of marginalisation and pertinent social division are likely complex relative to those who have no direct interest in the labour market.

Individuals who live in formal housing are less likely than those in informal or traditional dwellings to consider inequality the biggest division in South Africa. This is in line with what one would expect.

Older individuals are slightly less likely to view the gap between the rich and the poor as the biggest division in South Africa, but the size of this effect is tiny.

Our findings have demonstrated that one's perceived financial situation does matter for the recognition of inequality as the most critical social division in South Africa.

Perceptions of inequality as a social division are linked to historical disadvantage in terms of race and gender and continuing exclusion. It is concerning that individuals who have completed school are significantly less likely to identify inequality as the primary social division in South Africa.

10. Conclusions

This paper investigated the possible relationship between relative financial situation and the sentiment whether or not inequality is the primary source of division in South Africa. This matters, as we have shown through our literature review, because perceived inequality (as opposed to objectively measured inequality) holds implications for social phenomena - in particular social cohesiveness. Our main finding is that those who regard themselves as 'worse off' than others are more likely to indicate that inequality is the main source of division in South Africa, while those who indicate that they are 'better off' or that their financial situation is 'the same' to that of their compatriots, are less likely to indicate that inequality is the main source of division in South Africa. This is an important finding when considering social cohesion on a national level. If those who consider themselves 'better off' than or 'the same' as the rest of South Africa are less likely to recognise the pervasiveness of inequality as a source of division, those with better means and resources to facilitate change and enhance social cohesion might not recognise the necessity to involve themselves in efforts to bring about a more just society.

Our findings have demonstrated that one's perceived financial situation does matter for the recognition of inequality as the most critical social division in South Africa.

Endnotes

- 1 The UNDP definition is based on the work of Berger-Schmitt (2000).
- 2 The term 'Black', as used here, refers to Black African, Coloured and Indian people collectively all those population groups which were classified as 'non-White' under apartheid legislation and policies. For the purposes of this paper, the terms used to refer to South African population sub-groups are capitalised (Black, Coloured, Indian/Asian and White).
- 3 'Global South', as used here, refers broadly to the regions of Latin America, Asia, Africa, and Oceania. As Dados and Connel (2012:12) highlight, it forms part 'of a family of terms, including "Third World" and "Periphery", that denotes regions outside Europe and North America, mostly (though not all) low-income and often politically or culturally marginalized'. The concept's focus is on the shared 'interconnected histories of colonialism, neo-imperialism, and differential economic and social change through which large inequalities in living standards, life expectancy, and access to resources are maintained' in these contexts.
- 4 Among 33 African countries surveyed by Afrobarometer in 2014/2015, South Africa ranks near the top in levels of intolerance toward foreigners. About four-in-ten (42%) of respondents in this nationally representative sample indicated that foreigners should be barred from staying in South Africa on grounds that they outcompete nationals for jobs and benefits, whilst three-in-ten (32%) said they would dislike having a foreigner as a neighbour.
- 5 According to the 2015 SARB survey, 60.2 % of South Africans are affected by racism in their daily lives, and 67.3% of South Africans have little or no trust in people of other racial groups.
- 6 Important inequalities and exclusions in this regard, as highlighted by a summary of recent research by Leibbrandt and Green (2017), include that i) if your parents are poor, the chances of your being poor are about 90%, ii) about 10% of the population owns 95% of its wealth, iii) from those entering the public education system only 4% are likely to get a tertiary degree (with the majority of the successful students having attended former White Model C or private schools), and iv) those who live in urban areas and earn the least pay up to 40% of their incomes in transport costs because they live far from their work.
- 7 Horizontal inequalities refer to the political and economic inequalities between 'culturally' delineated groups (Stewart 2000, 2002, 2008; Langer & Smedts 2013). In this case, it is specifically used in reference to economic inequalities between racially delineated groupings in the South African context.
- 8 The personal income tax data that Orthofer (2016) uses to estimate wealth inequality does not measure wealth (the total value of individuals' assets) directly, as wealth is not taxed in South Africa. Instead, wealth inequality is approximated through measuring the distribution of taxable income from investment.
- 9 LITS includes 30 emerging (mostly transition) economies and five advanced European economies.

References

- Abrahams, C. (2016). Twenty Years of Social Cohesion and Nation-Building in South Africa. *Journal of Southern African Studies*, 42(1): 95–107.
- Allport, G.W. (1954). The Nature of Prejudice. Cambridge, MA: Addison-Wesley.

Atkinson, A.B. (2015). Inequality. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

- Barolsky, V. (2013). The 'State' of Social Cohesion: Re-stating the Question of Social Cohesion and 'Nation-building'. (In U. Pillay, G. Hagg, F. Nyamnjoh and J. Janson, (eds.). (2013). State of the Nation: South Africa 2012–2013. Pretoria: HSRC Press. pp. 378–398.)
- Beauvais, C. and Jenson, J. (2002). Social Cohesion: Updating the State of the Research. Ottawa: Department of Canadian Heritage and Canadian Policy Research Networks (CPRN). http://www. cprn.org/documents/12949_en.pdf. Date of Access: 8 December 2016.
- Berger-Schmitt, R. (2000). Social Cohesion as an Aspect of the Quality of Societies: Concept and Assessment. EU Reporting Working Paper No.14, Centre for Survey Research and Methodology. http://www.gesis.org/fileadmin/upload/dienstleistung/daten/soz_indikatoren/eusi/paper14.pdf. Date of Access: 7 March 2017.
- Bernard, P. (2000). Social Cohesion: A Dialectical Critique of a Quasi-Concept. Observatoire Montréalais des Inégalités et de la Santé, Canada. http://www.omiss.ca/english/reference/pdf/pbernard.pdf. Date of Access: 8 December 2016.
- Bourdieu, P. (1984). Distinction: A Social Critique of the Judgement of Taste. London: Routledge.

- Cederman, L.A., Weidmann, N.B. and Gledditsch, K.S. (2011). Horizontal Inequalities and Ethno-Nationalist Civil War: A Global Comparison. *American Political Science Review*, 105(3): 478–495.
- Chambers, J., Swan, L. and Heesacker, M. (2013). Better Off Than We Know. *Psychological Science*, 25(2): 613–618.
- Chan, J., To, H.P. and Chan, E. (2006). Reconsidering Social Cohesion: Developing a Definition and Analytical Framework for Empirical Research. *Social Indicators Research*, 75(2): 273–302.
- Cruces, G., Perez-Truglia, R, & Tetaz, M. (2013). Biased Perceptions of Income Distribution and Preferences for Redistribution: Evidence from a Survey Experiment. *Journal of Public Economics*, 98: 100–112.
- Dados, N. and Connel, R. (2012). The Global South. Contexts, 11(1): 12-13.
- Easterlin, R. (1995). Will Raising the Incomes of All Increase the Happiness of All? *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization*, 27(1): 35–47.
- Easterlin, R. (1974). Does Economic Growth Improve the Human Lot? Some Empirical Evidence. (In P.A. David & M.W. Reder (eds.). Nations and Households in Economic Growth: Essays in Honor of Moses Abramovitz. New York: Academic Press. pp. 89–125.)
- Easterly, W., Ritzen, J. and Woolcock, M. (2006). Social Cohesion, Institutions, and Growth. *Economics and Politics*, 18(2): 103–120.
- Elbers, C., Lanjouw, P., Mistiaen, J. and Özler, B. (2008). Reinterpreting Between-Group Inequality. *Journal of Economic Inequality*, 6(3): 231–245.
- Engelhardt, C. and Wagener, A. (2014). Biased Perceptions of Income Inequality and Redistribution. University of Hannover, DP no. 526.
- Fenger, M. (2012). Deconstructing Social Cohesion: Towards an Analytical Framework for Assessing Social Cohesion Policies. *Corvinus Journal of Sociology and Social Policy*, 2: 39–54.
- Finn, A. (2015). A National Minimum Wage in the Context of the South African Labour Market. SALDRU Working Paper 153. Cape Town: SALDRU, University of Cape Town.
- Finn, A., Leibbrandt, M. and Ranchhod, V. (2016). Patterns of Persistence: Intergenerational Mobility and Education in South Africa. SALDRU Working Paper 175. Cape Town: SALDRU, University of Cape Town.
- Gimpelson, V. and Treisman, D. (2017). Misperceiving Inequality. Economics and Politics, 30(1): 1–28.
- Gurr, T.R. (1970). Why Men Rebel. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Hacker, J.S. (2004). Privatizing Risk without Privatizing the Welfare State: The Hidden Politics of Social Policy Retrenchment in the United States. *American Political Science Review*, 98(2): 243–260.
- Harell, A. and Stolle, D. (2011). Reconciling Diversity and Community? Defining Social Cohesion in Developed Democracies. (In M. Hooghe (ed.). Contemporary Theoretical Perspectives on the Study of Social Cohesion and Social Capital. Brussels: Koninklijke Vlaamse Academie van België voor Wetenschappen en Kunsten. pp. 15–46.)
- Hofmeyr, J. and Govender, R. (2015). National Reconciliation, Race Relations and Social Inclusion. SARB 2015 Briefing Paper 1. Cape Town: Institute for Justice and Reconciliation.
- Hofmeyr, J. and Govender, R. (2016). Perceptions of Economic Security and Well-Being. SARB 2015 Briefing Paper 2. Cape Town: Institute for Justice and Reconciliation.
- Hooghe, M. (2011). Social Cohesion in Contemporary Societies: An Update of Theoretical Approaches. (In M. Hooghe (ed.). Contemporary Theoretical Perspectives on the Study of Social Cohesion and Social Capital. Brussels: Koninklijke Vlaamse Academie van België voor Wetenschappen en Kunsten. pp. 7–14.)
- Hundenborn, J., Leibbrandt, M. and Woolard, I. (2016). Drivers of Inequality in South Africa. SALDRU Working Paper 194/NIDS Discussion Paper 2016/16. Cape Town: SALDRU, University of Cape Town.
- Jadoo, Y. (2016). SA a Country of Two Nations Mbeki. *The Citizen*, 16 March. http://citizen.co.za/ news/news-national/1036768/sa-the-country-of-two-nations-mbeki/. Date of Access: 8 March 2017.
- Jenson, J. (1998). Mapping Social Cohesion: The State of Canadian Research. Canada Policy Research Network Study No. F/03. http://cprn.org/documents/15723_en.pdf. Date of Access: 8 March 2017.
- Kearns, A. and Forrest, R. (2000). Social Cohesion and Multilevel Urban Governance. *Urban Studies*, 37(5-6): 995–1017.
- Kerr, A. (2015). Tax(i)ing the Poor? Commuting Costs in South Africa. SALDRU Working Paper 156. Cape Town: SALDRU, University of Cape Town.
- King, E., Samii, C. and Snilstveit, B. (2010). Interventions to Promote Social Cohesion in Sub-Saharan Africa. *Journal of Development Effectiveness*, 2(3): 336–370.

- Kingdon, G.G. & Knight, J. (2007). Community, Comparisons and Subjective Well-Being in a Divided Society. *Journal of Economic Behaviour & Organization*, 64: 69–90.
- Knack, S. and Zak, P.J. (2002). Building Trust: Public Policy, Interpersonal Trust and Economic Development. Supreme Court Economic Review, 10: 91–107.
- Kuhn, A. (2011). In the Eye of the Beholder: Subjective Inequality Measures and Individuals' Assessment of Market Justice. *European Journal of Political Economy*, 27: 625–61.
- Kuhn, A. (2016). The Subversive Nature of Inequality: Subjective Inequality Perceptions and Attitudes to Social Inequality. CesIFO Working Paper No. 6023.
- Langer, A., Stewart, F., Smedts, K. and Demarest, L. (2015). Conceptualising and Measuring Social Cohesion in Africa: Towards a Perceptions-Based Index. Centre for Research on Peace and Development (CRPD), Working Paper No. 21. http://soc.kuleuven.be/crpd/files/working-papers/ wp21.pdf. Date of Access: 8 March 2017.
- Langer, A. and Smedts, K. (2013). Seeing Is Not Believing: Perceptions of Horizontal Inequalities in Africa. CRPD Working Paper No. 16. Leuven: Centre for Research on Peace and Development.
- Leibbrandt, M. and Green, P. (2017). REDI3x3 Conference: Policies for Inclusive Growth. http://www. econ3x3.org/article/redi3x3-conference-policies-inclusive-growth. Date of Access: 8 March 2017.
- Leibbrandt , M, Finn, A and Woolard, I. (2012) Describing and Decomposing Post-Apartheid Income Inequality in South Africa. *Development Southern Africa*, 29(1):19–34.
- Leibbrandt, M., Woolard, I., Finn, A. and Argent, J. (2010). Trends in South African Income Distribution and Poverty since the Fall of Apartheid. OECD Social, Employment and Migration Working Paper 101. Paris: OECD.
- Lupu, N. & Pontusson, J. (2011). The Structure of Inequality and the Politics of Redistribution. *American Political Science Review*, 105(02): 316–336.
- Maxwell, J. (1996). Social Dimensions of Economic Growth. Eric John Hanson Memorial Lecture Series, University of Alberta.
- Miller, D. (1989). Market, State and Community: Theoretical Foundations of Market Socialism. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Neckerman, K. (2005). Social Inequality. New York: Russel Sage Foundation.
- Niehues, J. (2014). Subjective Perceptions of Inequality and Redistributive Preferences: An International Comparison. Cologne Institute for Economic Research [unpublished].
- Norton, M. and Ariely, D. (2011). Building a Better America—One Wealth Quintile at a Time. *Perspectives* on *Psychological Science*, 6(1): 9–12.
- Norton, A. & De Haan, A. (2013). Social Cohesion: Theoretical Debates and Practical Applications with Respect to Jobs. Background paper for the World Development Report 2013. World Bank. http://siteresources.worldbank.org/EXTNWDR2013/Resources/8258024-1320950747192/ 8260293-1320956712276/8261091-1348683883703/WDR2013_bp_Social_Cohesion_Norton. pdf. Date of Access: 6 March 2017.
- OECD Development Centre. (2012). Perspectives on Global Development: Social Cohesion in a Shifting World. Paris.
- Orthofer, A. (2016). Wealth Inequality in South Africa: Insights from Survey and Tax Data. REDI3x3 Working Paper 15.
- Ostby, G. (2013). Inequality and Political Violence: A Review of the Literature. *International Area Studies Review*, 16(2): 206–231.
- Patel, K. (2015). What Caused the Xenophobic Attacks in South Africa? http://www.aljazeera.com/ news/2016/04/report-blames-media-xenophobic-panic-africa-160406102827284.html. Date of Access: 30 January 2017.
- Pervaiz, Z., Chaudhary, A.R. and Van Staveren, I. (2013). Diversity, Inclusiveness and Social Cohesion. Institute of Social Studies, Working Paper No. 2013-1. http://www.indsocdev.org/resources/ISD_Working_ Paper_2013-1_Diversity_Inclusiveness_and_Social_Cohesion.pdf. Date of Access: 6 March 2017.
- Posel, D. and Casale, D. (2010). Relative Standing and Subjective Well-Being in South Africa: The Role of Perceptions, Expectations and Income Mobility. *Social Indicators Research*, 104(2): 195–223.
- Posel, D. and Rogan, M. (2016). Measured as Poor versus Feeling Poor: Comparing Money-Metric and Subjective Poverty Rates in South Africa. *Journal of Human Development and Capabilities*, 17(1): 55–73.
- Potgieter, E. (2017). SA Reconciliation Barometer Survey 2017 Report. Cape Town: Institute for Justice and Reconciliation.
- Potgieter, E. (2016). National Reconciliation, Social Mobility in an Unequal Society: Exploring Access and Advantage in South Africa. SARB 2015 Briefing Paper 4. Cape Town: Institute for Justice and Reconciliation.

- Putnam, R.D. (2001). Social Capital. Measurement and Consequences. *Canadian Journal of Policy Research*, 2(1): 41–51.
- Putnam, R.D. (2000). Bowling Alone. The Collapse and Revival of American Community. New York: Simon and Schuster.
- Rohstein, B. and Uslaner, E.M. (2005). All for All: Equality, Corruption, and Social Trust. *World Politics*, 58(1): 41–72.
- Ross, F.C. (2009) Raw Life, New Hope: Decency, Housing and Everyday life in Post-Apartheid South Africa. Cape Town: Cape Town University Press.
- Schmeets, H. (2011). Social Cohesion: An Integrated Empirical Approach. (In M. Hooghe (ed.). Contemporary Theoretical Perspectives on the Study of Social Cohesion and Social Capital. Brussels: Koninklijke Vlaamse Academie van België voor Wetenschappen en Kunsten. pp. 12–142.)
- Schotte, S., Zizzamia, R. and Leibbrandt, M. (2017). Social Stratification, Life Chances and Vulnerability to Poverty in South Africa. SALDRU Working Papers 208. Cape Town: SALDRU, University of Cape Town. IJR. (2015). South African Reconciliation Barometer 2015. Cape Town.
- Starmans, C., Sheskin, M. and Bloom, P. (2017). Why People Prefer Unequal Societies. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 1(4): 1–7.
- Statistics South Africa. (2017). Poverty Trends in South Africa: An Examination of Absolute Poverty between 2006 and 2015. Pretoria.
- Stewart, F. (2008). Horizontal Inequalities and Conflict: Understanding Group Violence in Multiethnic Societies. Basingstoke: Palgrave.
- Stewart, F. (2002). Horizontal Inequalities: A Neglected Dimension of Development. QEH Working Paper Series No. 81. Oxford: University of Oxford.
- Stewart, F. (2000). The Root Causes of Humanitarian Emergencies (In W.E. Nafziger, F. Stewart and R. Väyrynen (eds.). War, Hunger and Displacement: The Origins of Humanitarian Emergencies, Volume 1: Analysis. Oxford: Oxford University Press.)
- Stocpol, T. (2003). Diminished Democracy: From Membership to Management in American Civil Life.
- Tanaka, T. Yamamoto, T., and Haruno, M. (2017). Brain Response Patterns to Economic Inequity Predict Present and Future Depression Indices. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 1 (October).
- UNDP, Bureau for Crisis Prevention and Recovery. (2009). Community Security and Social Cohesion: Towards a UNDP Approach. Cyprus: UNDP. http://www.undp.org/content/dam/thailand/docs/ CommSecandSocialCohesion.pdf. Date of Access: 6 March 2017.
- Uslaner, E.M. (2002). The Moral Foundations of Trust. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Van der Berg, S. (2011). Current Poverty and Income Distribution in the Context of South African History. *Economic History of Developing Regions*, 26(1): 120–40.
- Wale, K. (2014). Reflecting on Reconciliation: Lessons from the Past, Prospects for the Future. Institute for Justice and Reconciliation. Online: http://reconciliationbarometer.org/wp-content/ uploads/2014/12/JJR-SA-Reconciliation-Barometer-Report-2014.pdf.
- Wale, K. (2013). Confronting Exclusion: Time for Radical Reconciliation. SA Reconciliation Barometer Survey: 2013 Report. Institute for Justice and Reconciliation. Online: http:// reconciliationbarometer.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/IJR-Barometer-Report-2013-22Nov1635.pdf.
- Wilkinson, R.G. and Pickett, K.G. (2010). The Spirit Level. 1st ed. London: Penguin.
- Wittgenstein, L. (2009). Philosophical Investigations. Translated by Hacker, P.M.S. and Schulte, J. 5th ed. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons.

World Bank. (2016). Poverty and Shared Prosperity: Taking on Inequality. Washington D.C.

You, J.S. (2005). A Comparative Study of Income Inequality, Corruption and How Inequality and Corruption Reinforce Each Other and Erode Social Trust. (PhD: John. F. Kennedy School of Government, Harvard University). http://ksghome.harvard.edu/~youjong/dissertation%20 contents.htm . Date of Access: 3 April 2017.

ABOUT THE INSTITUTE FOR JUSTICE AND RECONCILIATION

The Institute for Justice and Reconciliation (IJR) was launched in 2000 by officials who worked for the South African Truth and Reconciliation Commission, with the aim of ensuring that lessons learnt from South Africa's transition from apartheid to democracy are taken into account and utilised in advancing the interests of national reconciliation across Africa. The IJR works with partner organisations across Africa to promote reconciliation and socio-economic justice in countries emerging from conflict or undergoing democratic transition. The IJR is based in Cape Town, South Africa. For more information, visit http://www.ijr.org.za, and for comments or enquiries contact info@ijr.org.za.



www.ijr.org.za

105 Hatfield Street Gardens 8001 Cape Town South Africa



.

 $\bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet$





